# The Analytical Chemistry Laboratory Companion

Michael D. Holloway



NH<sub>2</sub>

Sticky Note Adhesive Failure...Why? Must Do:

- ✓ Wet Chemical Analysis
- ✓ Instrumental Chemical Analysis
- ✓ Use Statistical Tools
- Explore Chemical Synthesis
- ✓ Conduct Designed Experiments



WILEY

# The Analytical Chemistry Laboratory Companion

# **Scrivener Publishing**

100 Cummings Center, Suite 541J Beverly, MA 01915-6106

Publishers at Scrivener
Martin Scrivener (martin@scrivenerpublishing.com)
Phillip Carmical (pcarmical@scrivenerpublishing.com)

# The Analytical Chemistry Laboratory Companion

Michael D. Holloway



This edition first published 2025 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA and Scrivener Publishing LLC, 100 Cummings Center, Suite 541J, Beverly, MA 01915, USA

© 2025 Scrivener Publishing LLC

For more information about Scrivener publications please visit www.scrivenerpublishing.com.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, except as permitted by law. Advice on how to obtain permission to reuse material from this title is available at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

### Wiley Global Headquarters

111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA

For details of our global editorial offices, customer services, and more information about Wiley products visit us at www. wiley.com.

#### Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty

While the publisher and authors have used their best efforts in preparing this work, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation any implied warranties of merchant-ability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives, written sales materials, or promotional statements for this work. The fact that an organization, website, or product is referred to in this work as a citation and/or potential source of further information does not mean that the publisher and authors endorse the information or services the organization, website, or product may provide or recommendations it may make. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a specialist where appropriate. Neither the publisher nor authors shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages. Further, readers should be aware that websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

ISBN 9781394355082

Front cover images supplied by the author Cover design by the author

Set in size of 11pt and Minion Pro by Manila Typesetting Company, Makati, Philippines

Printed in the USA

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

This work is dedicated to Dr. Ascanio G. DiPippo, Dr. George Morris, and Dr. James Nugent for their guidance and support during my formative chemical years as an undergraduate student.

# Contents

Preface	XXV
Acknowledgement	xxvii
Introduction	1
Wet Chemical Analysis	1
Wet Chemical Methods	2
Titration Methods	2 2 3 3 3
Gravimetric Methods	3
Colorimetric Methods	3
Precipitation Methods	
Extraction Methods	3
Instrumental Chemical Analysis	4
Common Chemical Analysis Techniques	4
Thermal Analysis	5
Applications of Chemical Analysis Techniques	5
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	6
How to Decide on Which Instrumental Analytical Methods to Use	9
Analysis Reasoning	10
Why Spectroscopy?	10
Why Chromatography?	11
Why Wet Chemical Methods?	12
Why Electrochemical Methods?	13
Why Microscopy?	15
Why Elemental Analysis?	16
Why Thermal Analysis?	17
Establishing a Designed Experiment (DoX)	18
Steps in the DoX Selection Process	18
Setting Up the DoX	20
Laboratory Management	23
Samples	24
The Significance of Standardized Sample Preparation	24
Introduction  Wet Chemical Analysis Wet Chemical Methods Titration Methods Gravimetric Methods Colorimetric Methods Precipitation Methods Extraction Methods Instrumental Chemical Analysis Common Chemical Analysis Common Chemical Analysis Techniques Thermal Analysis Applications of Chemical Analysis Techniques Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies How to Decide on Which Instrumental Analytical Methods to Use Analysis Reasoning Why Spectroscopy? Why Chromatography? Why Wet Chemical Methods? Why Microscopy? Why Electrochemical Methods? Why Microscopy? Why Elemental Analysis? Establishing a Designed Experiment (DoX) Steps in the DoX Selection Process Setting Up the DoX Laboratory Management Samples	
Procedures	25
Benefits of Standardized Sample Preparation	26

Developing and Maintaining a Robust Sample Management System	
in an Analytical Laboratory: Ensuring Sample Integrity	
and Preventing Cross-Contamination	26
The Significance of Sample Management	26
Developing a Robust Sample Management System	27
Maintaining Sample Management Integrity	28
Instrumentation	29
The Importance of Preventive Maintenance and Calibration	30
Establishing a Preventive Maintenance Schedule and Calibration	
Program	31
The Significance of Instrument Validation	32
Validating Analytical Instruments	33
Benefits of Instrument Validation	34
Establishing and Maintaining Comprehensive Records	35
Benefits of Comprehensive Record-Keeping	35
Validating and Verifying Analytical Methods: Ensuring Accuracy	33
and Precision in an Analytical Laboratory	36
·	36
The Importance of Validation and Verification  Method Validation	
Method Varidation  Method Verification	37 37
Continuous Monitoring and Maintenance	38
Regularly Updating Methods and Maintaining Documentation:	
Ensuring Methodological Excellence in an Analytical Laboratory	20
and The Significance of Regular Method Updates and Documentation	38
Regular Method Updates	39
Maintaining Documentation	39
Quality	40
Components of a QMS	42
Benefits of Implementing a QMS	42
Establishing and Maintaining Quality Control Procedures	
for Analytical Laboratories: Ensuring Accuracy and Reliability	
of Analytical Results	43
The Significance of Quality Control Procedures	43
Establishing Quality Control Procedures	44
Benefits of Quality Control Procedures	44
Data	45
Implementing a Secure Data Management System for Analytical	
Laboratories: Ensuring Data Integrity and Reliability	45
The Significance of Secure Data Management	45
Implementing a Secure Data Management System	46
Data Management System Benefits	47
The Significance of Data Retention Policies	47
Developing Data Retention Policies	48
Benefits of Data Retention Policies	49
The Significance of Calibration and Verification	49
Establishing a Calibration Schedule and Verification Protocols	50

CONTENTS	1X
CONTENTS	IA.

Benefits of Calibration and Verification	51
The Significance of Comprehensive Documentation	51
Establishing a Comprehensive Documentation System	52
Benefits of Comprehensive Documentation	53
Audit Preparedness	53
Preparing for Audits and Inspections	54
Benefits of Audit Preparedness	55
The Significance of Emergency Response Plans	56
Developing and Regularly Reviewing Emergency Response Plans	57
Benefits of Emergency Response Plans	58
Regulatory Compliance	58
Staying Up-to-Date with Regulations and Standards	58
Benefits of Regulatory Compliance	59
Designing and Maintaining Laboratory Facilities: Ensuring Optimal	
Environmental Control in an Analytical Laboratory	60
The Importance of Environmental Control	60
Designing Laboratory Facilities with Environmental Controls	60
Maintaining Environmental Control	61
Accurate Inventory Management	62
Maintaining Accurate Inventories and Stock Management	63
Benefits of Accurate Inventory Management	63
The Significance of Proper Waste Disposal	64
Establishing and Implementing Proper Waste Disposal Procedures	64
Benefits of Proper Waste Disposal	65
Effective Communication and Collaboration	66
Fostering Effective Communication and Collaboration	66
Benefits of Effective Communication and Collaboration	67
Delivering Excellent Client Service	68
Benefits of Excellent Client Service	69
The Significance of Continuous Improvement	69
Implementing a Culture of Continuous Improvement	69
Benefits of Continuous Improvement	70
Staff	71
Implementing and Maintaining a Qualified Staff	73
Benefits of a Qualified Staff	73
The Significance of Training and Professional Development	74
Establishing a Training and Professional Development Program	74
Benefits of Training and Professional Development Programs	75
Laboratory Financial Considerations	76
General Accounting for the Laboratory	78
Establishing a Budget	80
Developing a Standard Operating Procedure	81
Laboratory Safety	83
Common Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	84
Test Result Reporting	86
Glassware Considerations	88

## x Contents

Abbreviations Used in Analytical Chemistry	89
Abbreviations for Reagents and Substances	89
Abbreviations for Units and Measurements:	90
Abbreviations for Analytical Techniques and Instruments:	90
Part 1: Wet Chemistry	93
Titration	95
Acid-Base Titrations	95
Glassware	95
Reagents	96
Solvents	97
Units of Measure	98
Pitfalls to Avoid	99
Report Format	100
Applications	102
Redox Titration	103
Glassware	103
Reagents	104
Solvents	106
Units of Measure	107
Pitfalls to Avoid	108
Report Format	109
Applications	111
Complexometric Titration	112
Glassware	112
Reagents	114
Solvents	115
Units of Measure	116
Pitfalls to Avoid	117
Report Format	118
Applications	120
Gravimetric Methods	123
Precipitation Gravimetry	123
Glassware	123
Reagents	124
Solvents	126
Units of Measure	126
Pitfalls to Avoid	127
Report Format	129
Applications	130
Volatilization Gravimetry Glassware	132
	132
Reagents Solvents	133 134
Units of Measure	
Onits of Measure	134

	Contents	xi
Dist II and A 11		105
Pitfalls to Avoid		135
Report Format		<ul><li>136</li><li>138</li></ul>
Applications		138
Precipitation Methods		141
Selective Precipitation		141
Glassware		141
Reagents		142
Solvents		144
Units of Measure		145
Pitfalls to Avoid		146
Report Format		<ul><li>147</li><li>149</li></ul>
Applications		149
Extraction Methods		151
Liquid-Liquid Extraction		151
Glassware		151
Reagents		152
Solvents		153
Units of Measure		155
Pitfalls to Avoid		156
Report Format		158
Applications		159
Solid-Phase Extraction (SPE) Glassware		<ul><li>161</li><li>161</li></ul>
		162
Reagents Solvents		163
Units of Measure		164
Pitfalls to Avoid		166
Report Format		167
Applications		169
Digestion Methods		171
Glassware		171
Reagents		172
Solvents		173
Units of Measure		174
Pitfalls to Avoid		<ul><li>175</li><li>177</li></ul>
Report Format Applications		177
Applications		1/9
Colorimetric Methods		181
UV-Visible Spectrophotometry (Wet Chemistry Method)		181
Glassware		181
Reagents		182
Solvents		183
Units of Measure		184
Pitfalls to Avoid		185

Report Format	187
Applications	188
Part 2: Instrumental Analysis	191
Spectroscopy	193
Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR)	193
Principles	193
Techniques	193
Components	194
Applications	195
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	195
Test Reporting	197
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	s 198
Abbreviations	200
Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)	202
Principles	202
MRI Techniques	203
Components	203
Applications of MRI in Chemical Analysis	204
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	205
Test Result Reporting	208
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	
Abbreviations	211
Raman Spectroscopy	212
Principles	212
Techniques	213
Components	214
Applications of Raman Spectroscopy	215
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	215
Test Result Reporting	217
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	
Abbreviations of Raman Spectroscopy	220
Ultraviolet-Visible (UV-Vis) Spectroscopy	221
Principles	222
Techniques	222
Components	223
Applications	224
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	225
Reporting Test Results	226
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	
of Ultraviolet-Visible (UV-Vis) Spectroscopy	228
Abbreviations of Ultraviolet-Visible (UV-Vis) Spectroscopy	229
Infrared Spectroscopy (IR)	231
Principles	231
Techniques	231

	Applications	232
	Components	233
	Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	234
	Test Result Reporting	235
	Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	237
	Abbreviations	239
	X-Ray Crystallography	240
	Principles	240
	Key Principles of X-Ray Crystallography	240
	Techniques	241
	Components	241
	Applications	242
	Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	243
	Test Result Reporting	244
	Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	245
	Abbreviations used in X-Ray Crystallography	247
	Microscopy	249
	Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) and Scanning Electron	
	Microscopy (SEM)	249
	Abbreviations for Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM)	251
	Abbreviations for Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	251
	Transmission Electron Microscopy	252
	Principles	252
	Techniques	253
	Components	253
	Applications	254
	Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	255
	Specialized Statistical Tools	256
	Test Result Reporting	257
	Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	259
	Abbreviations	261
	Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	262
	Principles	262
	SEM Techniques	263
	Components	263
	Applications	265
	Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	265
	Test Result Reporting	267
	Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies Abbreviations	269
	Addreviations	271
Chr	romatography	273
	Gas Chromatography	273
	Principles	273
	Techniques	274
	Components	274

Contents xiii

Applications	275
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	276
Test Result Reporting	278
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	279
Abbreviations Used for Gas Chromatography	281
Liquid Chromatography (LC)	282
Principles	283
Techniques of Liquid Chromatography in Analytical Chemistry	284
Components	285
Applications of Liquid Chromatography in Analytical Chemistry	287
Statistical Tools	288
Test Reporting	290
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	291
Additional Measures	292
Abbreviations of Liquid Chromatography in Analytical Chemistry	293
Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)	294
Principles	295
GC-MS Techniques	295
Components	295
Applications of GC-MS	297
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	297
Test Result Reporting	299
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	301
Abbreviations Used in Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)	303
Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry (ESI-MS)	305
Principles	305
Techniques	305
Components	306
Applications of ESI-MS	307
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	308
Test Result Reporting	310
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	311
Abbreviations for Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry (ESI-MS)	313
Electrochemistry	314
Electrochemistry Techniques	315
Applications of Electrochemistry	316
Potentiometry	318
Principles	318
Techniques of Potentiometry	320
Components	321
Applications of Potentiometry	322
Statistical Tools Useful for Data interpretation of Potentiometry	
for Analytical Chemistry	323
Test Result Reporting	325
Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	
for Potentiometry	326

Contents	XV
Abbreviations for Potentiometry	329
Cyclic Voltammetry (CV)	330
Principles	330
Techniques	331
Components	333
Applications	334
Useful Statistical Tools for Cyclic Voltammetry (CV) in Analytical	
Chemistry  Test Personation for Coolin Weltonson the (CW) for Application Chamistane	335
Test Reporting for Cyclic Voltammetry (CV) for Analytical Chemistry Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	337
for Cyclic Voltammetry (CV)	338
Abbreviations of Cyclic Voltammetry (CV)	341
Amperometry	342
Principles	342
Techniques	343
Components	345
Applications	346
Useful Statistical Tools	347
Test Reporting	349
Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	351
Common Root Causes	351
Abbreviations	354
Chronoamperometry	355
Principles	355
Techniques of Chronoamperometry in Analytical Chemistry	356
Components	357
Applications of Chronoamperometry in Analytical Chemistry Statistical Tools used in Chronoamperometry for Analytical	358
Chemistry	360
Test Reporting Used in Chronoamperometry for Analytical Chemistry Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and Remedies	361
for Chronoamperometry in Analytical Chemistry	362
Abbreviations for Chronoamperometry in Analytical Chemistry	365
Electrogravimetry	366
Principles	366
Techniques of Electrogravimetry in Analytical Chemistry	367
Components	369
Applications of Electrogravimetry in Analytical Chemistry	370
Statistical Tools Used in Electrogravimetry	371
Test Reporting used in Electrogravimetry	372
Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and Remedies	
for Electrogravimetry	374
Abbreviations for Electrogravimetry in Analytical Chemistry	376

Elemental Analysis

Principles of Elemental Analysis

Common Elemental Analysis Techniques

376

376

377

377

# xvi Contents

Applications of Elemental Analysis	377
Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP)	378
Principles	379
Techniques	380
Components	381
Applications of Inductively Coupled Plasma	383
Statistical Tools used for Inductively Coupled Plasma	384
Test Reporting of Inductively Coupled Plasma	385
Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and Remedies for Inductively	
Coupled Plasma	387
Abbreviations of Inductively Coupled Plasma	389
X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF)	390
Principles	390
Techniques X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF)	391
Components	391
Applications	392
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	393
Test Result Reporting of X-ray Fluorescence (XRF)	395
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	
of X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) for Analytical Chemistry	396
Abbreviations of X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) for Analytical Chemistry	398
Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS)	399
General Principles	399
Key Principles and Concepts	400
Techniques	400
Components	402
Applications	403
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	405
Test Result Reporting	407
Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	408
Abbreviations	410
Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS)	412
Principles	412
Techniques of Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS)	413
Components	414
Applications	415
Statistical Tools Useful for Data interpretation	417
Test Result Reporting	418
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	420
Abbreviations of Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS) for Analytical	
Chemistry	423
Carbon-Hydrogen-Nitrogen-Sulfur (CHNS) Analysis	424
Principles	424
Techniques	425
Components	426
Applications	427

Contents	xvii
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	429
Test Result Reporting	430
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	432
Abbreviations	433
Physical Property Tests	434
Density and Refractive Index Measurements	434
Principles	435
Techniques	435
Statistical Tools Useful for Data interpretation for Density	
Measurements	437
Test Result Reporting	438
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	439
Abbreviations for Density Measurements	441
Refractive Index Measurements	441
Principles	441
Techniques	442
Applications	443
Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation	443
Test Result Reporting	445
Common Root Cause for Faulty Data and Suggested Remedies	446
Abbreviations for Refractive Index Measurements in Analytical Chemistry	448
Part 3: Thermal Analysis	449
Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis (DTMA) and Thermal Mechanical	
Analysis (TMA)	451
Thermal Mechanical Analysis (TMA)	452
Principles	453
Techniques	454
Components	455
Applications	456
Statistical Tools Useful for Data interpretation for Thermal	
Mechanical Analysis (TMA) Measurements in Analytical Chemistry Test Result Reporting for Thermal Mechanical Analysis (TMA)	458
Measurements in Analytical Chemistry	459
Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and the Suggested Remedies	
for Thermal Mechanical Analysis (TMA) Measurements	
in Analytical Chemistry	461
Abbreviations for Thermal Mechanical Analysis (TMA) Used	
in Analytical Chemistry	463
Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis (DTMA)	464
Principles of Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis (DTMA)	
in Analytical Chemistry	464
Techniques of Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis (DTMA)	
in Analytical Chemistry	465
Components	467
T · · · · ·	

	Applications of Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis (DTMA)	
	Measurements in Analytical Chemistry	468
	Statistical Tools Useful for Data Interpretation for Dynamic Thermal	
	Mechanical Analysis (DTMA) Measurements in Analytical Chemistry	469
	Test Result Reporting for Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis	
	(DTMA) Measurements in Analytical Chemistry	471
	Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and the Suggested Remedies	1/ 1
	for Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis (DTMA) Measurements	
	in Analytical Chemistry	472
	Abbreviations for Dynamic Thermal Mechanical Analysis (DTMA)	4/2
	Used in Analytical Chemistry	475
Diffor	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	473
Diller	ential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)	
	Principles Tack views	476
	Techniques	477
	Components	479
	Applications	480
	Statistical Tools	481
	Test Result Reporting	483
	Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and the Suggested Remedies	485
m	Abbreviations	487
Thern	nogravimetric Analysis (TGA)	488
	Principles	488
	Techniques	489
	Components	491
	Applications	492
	Statistical Tools Useful for Data interpretation	493
	Test Result Reporting for Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)	
	Measurements in Analytical Chemistry	495
	Common Root Causes for Faulty Data and the Suggested Remedies	496
	Abbreviations for Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA) Used	
	in Analytical Chemistry	499
Appendix		501
	atory Management	501
	Samples	502
	The Significance of Standardized Sample Preparation	502
	Developing and Implementing Standardized Sample Preparation	
	Procedures	503
	Benefits of Standardized Sample Preparation	503
	Developing and Maintaining a Robust Sample Management System	
	in an Analytical Laboratory: Ensuring Sample Integrity	
	and Preventing Cross-Contamination	504
	The Significance of Sample Management	504
	Developing a Robust Sample Management System	505
	Maintaining Sample Management Integrity	506
	Instrumentation	506

The Importance of Preventive Maintenance and Calibration	508
Establishing a Preventive Maintenance Schedule and Calibration	
Program	508
The Significance of Instrument Validation	510
Validating Analytical Instruments	510
Benefits of Instrument Validation	511
Establishing and Maintaining Comprehensive Records	512
Benefits of Comprehensive Record-Keeping	513
Validating and Verifying Analytical Methods: Ensuring Accuracy	
and Precision in an Analytical Laboratory	513
The Importance of Validation and Verification	514
Method Validation	514
Method Verification	515
Continuous Monitoring and Maintenance	515
Regularly Updating Methods and Maintaining Documentation:	
Ensuring Methodological Excellence in an Analytical Laboratory	
and The Significance of Regular Method Updates and Documentation	515
Regular Method Updates	516
Maintaining Documentation	517
Control Charts	518
X-Bar Control Chart	518
R Control Chart	519
Calibration Curve with Regression Analysis	520
Control Charts for Replicates	520
I-MR Chart	520
X-Bar Chart	521
R Chart	522
Method Validation	524
Linearity Curve	524
Regression Analysis	525
Linear Regression	525
Multiple Regression	525
Polynomial Regression	526
Multivariate Analysis	527
Principal Component Analysis	527
Cluster Analysis	527
Gauge R & R	528
A Bar Chart (showing part-part variation, repeatability, and	
reproducibility)	528
R Chart (to analyze repeatability)	529
A Scatter Plot (showing measurements taken for each part)	530
A Box Plot (comparing measurements from different appraisers)	531
Youden Plot	533
Control Chart for Precision	533
X-Bar Chart	533
R Chart	534

## xx Contents

Control Charts for Accuracy	535
Shewhart Chart	535
Levey-Jennings Chart	536
Control Charts for Repeatability & Reproducibility	538
R Chart	538
CUSUM Chart	539
Precision Control Chart	540
X-Bar Chart	540
R Chart	541
Accuracy Control Chart	542
Bias Chart	542
Repeatability Control Chart	544
Individual Chart	544
Reproducibility Control Chart	545
p Chart	545
Calibration Curves	546
Accuracy Calibration Curves	546
Repeatability Calibration Curves	547
Reproducibility Calibration Curves	548
Linearity Calibration Curves	548
Quality	551
Components of a QMS	552
Benefits of Implementing a QMS	553
Establishing and Maintaining Quality Control Procedures	333
for Analytical Laboratories: Ensuring Accuracy and Reliability	
of Analytical Results	553
The Significance of Quality Control Procedures	554
Establishing Quality Control Procedures	554
Benefits of Quality Control Procedures	555
Data	555 555
Implementing a Secure Data Management System for Analytical	333
Laboratories: Ensuring Data Integrity and Reliability	556
The Significance of Secure Data Management	556
Implementing a Secure Data Management System	556
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Data Management System Benefits The Significance of Data Retention Policies	557 558
Developing Data Retention Policies	558
Benefits of Data Retention Policies	559
The Significance of Calibration and Verification	560
	560
Establishing a Calibration Schedule and Verification Protocols Benefits of Calibration and Verification	
	561 562
The Significance of Comprehensive Documentation	562 562
Establishing a Comprehensive Documentation System	562 563
Benefits of Comprehensive Documentation	
Audit Preparedness	564

Contents	xxi
Preparing for Audits and Inspections	564
Benefits of Audit Preparedness	565
The Significance of Emergency Response Plans	567
Developing and Regularly Reviewing Emergency Response Plans	567
Benefits of Emergency Response Plans	568
Regulatory Compliance	568
Staying Up-to-Date with Regulations and Standards	569
Benefits of Regulatory Compliance	570
Designing and Maintaining Laboratory Facilities: Ensuring	0,0
Optimal Environmental Control in an Analytical Laboratory	570
The Importance of Environmental Control	570
Designing Laboratory Facilities with Environmental Controls	571
Maintaining Environmental Control	572
Accurate Inventory Management	572
Maintaining Accurate Inventories and Stock Management	573
Benefits of Accurate Inventory Management	574
The Significance of Proper Waste Disposal	574
Establishing and Implementing Proper Waste Disposal Procedures	575
Benefits of Proper Waste Disposal	576
Effective Communication and Collaboration	576
Fostering Effective Communication and Collaboration	577
Benefits of Effective Communication and Collaboration	577
Excellent Client Service	578
Delivering Excellent Client Service	578
Benefits of Excellent Client Service	579
The Significance of Continuous Improvement	580
Implementing a Culture of Continuous Improvement	580
Benefits of Continuous Improvement	581
Staff	581
Implementing and Maintaining a Qualified Staff	583
Benefits of a Qualified Staff	584
The Significance of Training and Professional Development	584
Establishing a Training and Professional Development Program	585
Benefits of Training and Professional Development Programs	586
Laboratory Financial Considerations	586
General Accounting for the Laboratory	589
Statistical Tools Used for Analysis of Precision, Accuracy, Repeatability,	
and Reproducibility in Analytical Labs	591
Laboratory Statistics	592
For Precision	592
Variance (Var)/Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)	594
Relative Standard Deviation (RSD)	596

597

598

600

Coefficient of Variation (CV)

Control Charts

For Accuracy

# xxii Contents

Bias Analysis	600
Calibration Curves	602
Standard Reference Materials (SRMs)	603
Recovery Experiments	605
For Repeatability & Reproducibility	607
Intra-Assay Variation	607
Control Charts for Replicates	608
Method Validation	610
Ring Tests	612
Additional Tools	614
Regression Analysis	614
Multivariate Statistics	616
Grubbs' Test	617
Gauge R&R	619
Youden Plot	621
Statistical Tools Used for Analysis of Precision, Accuracy, Repeatability,	
and Reproducibility	622
Precision	623
Accuracy	626
Repeatability	628
Reproducibility	628
Examples	629
Standard Deviation Analysis	629
Precision Assessment	630
Accuracy Assessment	631
Repeatability Assessment	631
Reproducibility Assessment	631
Linearity Assessment	631
Matrix Effect Assessment	632
Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)	632
Precision Assessment - One-Way ANOVA	634
Accuracy Assessment - Two-Way ANOVA	634
Repeatability Assessment - One-Way ANOVA	634
Reproducibility Assessment - Two-Way ANOVA	634
Linearity Assessment - Simple Linear Regression ANOVA	635
Matrix Effect Assessment - Two-Way ANOVA	635
Relative Standard Deviation (RSD)	635
Precision	636
Accuracy	636
Reproducibility	637
Repeatability	637
Linearity Assessment - RSD for Linearity	638
Matrix Effect Assessment - RSD for Matrix Effect	638
Control Charts	638
Precision	638
Accuracy	639

	Contents	xxiii
Repeatability and Reproducibility		639
Bias Analysis		641
Methods for Bias Analysis		642
Calibration Curves		644
Other Examples		646
Standard Reference Analysis		647
Recovery Experiments		649
Intra-Assay Variation Analysis		652
Ring Tests		655
Grubbs' Test		658
Gauge R&R		660
Youden Plots		663
Review of Chemical Synthesis		667
I. Organic Chemistry Reactions		667
II. Inorganic Chemistry Reactions		687
III. Physical Chemical Reactions		691
Thermodynamics		692
Chemical Kinetics		692
Quantum Mechanics		692
Electrochemistry		692
Synthesis Routes in Physical Chemistry		693
IV. Analytical Chemistry Reactions		693
Analytical Chemistry Synthesis Routes		695
V. Biochemistry Reactions		696
Synthesis Routes for Biochemistry		697
VI. Organic Polymer Chemical Reactions		698
Organic Polymer Chemistry Synthesis Routes		698
VII. Inorganic Polymer Reactions		699
Inorganic Polymer Chemistry Synthesis Routes		700
VIII. Nuclear Chemical Reactions		701
Nuclear Chemistry Synthesis Routes		702
IX. Material Science Chemistry		703
Synthesis Routes in Material Science X. Crystallization Chemical Reactions		705 706
Crystallization Chemical Synthesis Routes		707
XI. Metal Alloy Chemical Reactions		707
Metallic Alloy Synthesis Routes		710
XII. Ceramic Chemistry Reactions		711
Ceramic Chemical Synthesis Routes		713
XIII. Self-Replicating Molecules		715
Chemistry Designed Experiments		716
Factorial Designs		717
Fractional Factorial Designs		721
Central Composite Design (CCD)		731
Screening Designs		735
0 0		

# xxiv Contents

Hadamard Designs	741
Optimization Designs	744
One-Factor-at-a-Time (OFAT) Designs	755
Nested Designs	759
Taguchi Method	763
Sequential Experimentation Design	767
Forced Failure Method	774
References and Review	783
Index	787

This work serves several functions. Foremost, it is the intent to serve as a reference guide that professional chemists, graduate students, and those interested in analytical chemistry can consult when they need quick explanations or refreshers on specific topics within a subject area as well as laboratory operational insight as well as the structures of designing experiments and the use of statistics to gain increased accuracy, precision, repeatability, and reproducibility of data. It introduces students of chemistry to chemical analysis as an educational tool designed to help grasp the fundamental concepts and principles of analytical chemistry. This work will also provide for more in-depth and advanced study and lay the groundwork and build the necessary background knowledge.

This companion provides a concise examination of the various analytical tools used for chemistry and defines the basic analytical instrument principles, techniques, and applications as well as exploring statistical tools useful in data interpretation, test result reporting, and common root cause for faulty data with suggested remedies. The introduction provides a concise guide on developing standard operating procedures, laboratory safety, how to decide on which instrumental analytical methods to use, establishing a designed experiment (DoX), establishing a budget, and common statistical tools useful for data interpretation.

This work covers both wet chemical and instrumental analysis. The wet chemistry section covers glassware, reagents, solvents, units of measures, pitfalls to avoid, remedies that can be implemented, report formats, and applications. The instrumental analysis section covers principles, techniques, components, applications, specific statistical tools, test reporting, common root cause for faulty data and suggested remedies, and abbreviations. The work commences with laboratory management, statistical tools, a review of chemical synthesis, chemistry designed experiment structures, and References along with literary reviews.

This work is built to provide quick and accurate information that serves to inform as well as encourage chemists. The format is designed for easy reading and comprehension. Consider this work the best notes from the professor of analytical chemist who also runs a professional laboratory. Happy experimenting!

Michael D. Holloway

# Acknowledgements

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to the following individuals for their invaluable contributions to *The Analytical Chemistry Laboratory Companion*.

We extend our heartfelt thanks to **Emma Holloway** for her exceptional work in contributing to the statistics chapter. Her expertise and dedication were instrumental in shaping the content and ensuring its clarity.

Our deepest appreciation also goes to **Buhari Salahuddeen**, whose creativity and skill in developing the sketches for the layouts and instruments greatly enhanced the visual appeal and usability of this companion. His attention to detail has been vital in making complex concepts more accessible to readers.

We are truly grateful for their contributions and support throughout this project.